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was dismissed from the police force for
substance abuse.

D. Motion to Set Aside the Verdict
[14] Berkovich contends that the dis

trict court erred when it denied his motions
for judgment n.o.v. and for a new trial,
particularly in relation to the federal and
state law battery claims against defendant
Hicks. Judgment n.o.v. should be granted
only when

(1) there is such a complete absence of
evidence supporting the verdict that the
jury's findings could only have been the
result of sheer surmise and conjecture,
or (2) there is such an overwhelming
amount of evidence in favor of the mov
ant that reasonable and fair minded [peo
ple] could not arrive at a verdict against
him.

Bauer v. Raymark Industries, Inc., 849
F.2d 790, 792 (2d Cir.1988) (quoting Mallis
v. Bankers Trust Co., 717 F.2d 683, 688-89
(2d Cir.1983)). Berkovich does not meet
this rigorous standard.

Focusing on the federal and stah',. law
battery claims against Hicks, Berkovich ar
gues, in effect, that the following evidence
requires us to set aside the verdict: Berko
vich was rear-handcuffed during the entire
time he was in detention except when he
was taken to the bathroom; a bottle broke
in Berkovich's cell; and Berkovich was
treated for lacerations while in detention.
Although this evidence might suggest that
Hicks cut Berkovich with broken glass,
that is only one possible conclusion the jury
might reach. As the district court ob
served when it denied Berkovich's motion
to set aside the verdict, Berkovich never
eliminated the possibility that he had these
cuts before the arrest. Moreover, Hicks
and Tate both denied any knowledge about
how Berkovich was cut. In spite of Berko
vich's testimony to the contrary, the jury
may also have believed that Berkovich re
ceived these injuries when he was involved
in fights while detained in Central Booking.
Berkovich's argument that judgment n.o.v.
should be given on his other claims is also
meritless and does not warrant further dis
cussion.

Berkovich alternatively argues that the
district court should have granted his mo-

tion for a new trial, because the verdict
was against the weight of the evidence.
On appeal, however, when a new trial is
sought on the ground that the jury verdict
was against the weight of the evidence,
"we have disclaimed the authority to re
view a ruling on such a motion." New
mont Mines, Ltd. v. Hanover Ins. Co., 784
F.2d 127, 133 (2d Cir.1986) (citations omit
ted). Accordingly, the district court's deci
sion on this motion must stand.

CONCLUSION

For the above reasons, we hold that the
district court did not commit reversible er
ror in its discovery and evidentiary rulings,
that the court's questions did not deprive
Berkovich of a fair trial, and that the dis
trict court's decision not to grant judgment
n.o.v. or a new trial was not erroneous.
We affirm the judgment of the district
court.

OAKES, Chief Judge (concurring):

I concur in the result.
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District of New York, Neal P. McCurn,
Chief Judge, and Ellsworth A. Van Graafei
land, Circuit Judge, sitting by designation,
of possessing slot machines in Indian coun
try and operating illegal gambling business
and they appealed. The Court of Appeals,
Miner, Circuit Judge, held that: (1) Indian
Gaming Regulatory Act did not repeal stat
utes prohibiting unlawful possession of
gambling devices in Indian country and the
operation of illegal gambling businesses;
(2) expert testimony was not necessary to
establish that device was a slot machine;
(3) territory occupied by the St. Regis Mo
hawk Tribe is Indian country; and (4) New
York does not have exclusive jurisdiction to
prosecute Indians for crimes committed by
them on reservations within the state.

Affirmed.

Lasker, Senior District Judge, filed a
dissenting opinion.

1. Indians e::>36

To determine whether particular Indi
an tribe is a dependent community, it is
necessary to examine nature of the area,
relationship of inhabitants in the area to
Indian tribes and Federal Government, and
established practice of government agen
cies toward that area. 18 U.S.C.A. § 1151.

2. Indians e::>38(5)

Finding that St. Regis Mohawk Tribe
was a "dependent Indian community," so
that its territory was Indian country, was
supported by testimony of employee of the
Bureau of Indian Affairs that six-mile area
was inhabited by approximately 3,000 St.
Regis Mohawk Indians, that the tribe was
a federally recognized tribe, that the BIA
provided the tribe with monies for edu
cation, housing and training programs, so
cial services, and administration of tribal
government, and that the BlA was involved
in planning and funding of roads within the
reservation and charged with maintaining
the integrity of the lands and resources.
18 U.S.C.A. § 1151.

See publication Words and Phrases
for other judicial constructions and
definitions.

3. Criminal Lawe::>734
In cases where exercise of federal jur

isdiction over geographic area is necessary
to vest jurisdiction in federal courts, court
may determine as a matter of law the
extent of that jurisdiction.

4. Indians e::>38(l)
Determination of whether area occu

pied by St. Regis Mohawk Tribe was Indian
country was properly decided by the court
without submission of the issue to the jury.
18 U.S.C.A. § 1955.

5. Indians e::>38(2)
Absent explicit abdication of federal

jurisdiction by Congress in statute giving
state of New York jurisdiction over of
fenses committed by or against Indians on
Indian reservations within the state, no ab
dication of federal jurisdiction could be im
plied. 25 U.S.C.A. § 232.

6. Indians e::>38(2)
Statute giving courts of the state of

New York jurisdiction over offenses com
mitted by or against Indians on Indian res
ervations within the state of New York
extends concurrent jurisdiction to the state
of New York and does not surrender feder
al jurisdiction. 25 U.S.C.A. § 232.

7. Indians e::>32(l2)
Statutes e::>161(1)

Indian Gaming Regulatory Act (IGRA)
and its criminal penalty provision did not .
impliedly repeal statute prohibiting opera
tion of illegal gambling businesses with
respect to Indian country; although both
punish gambling operations that violate
state law, scope of prohibition of illegal
gambling businesses is greater in that it
also targets large-scale gaming enterprises
and imposes more stringent penalties. 18
U.S.C.A. §§ 1166, 1955; Indian Gaming
Regulatory Act, § 2 et seq., 25 U.S.C.A.
§ 2701 et seq.

8. Indians e::>38(2)
Statutory mechanism providing for en

forcement of the Indian Gaming Regula
tory Act (IGRA) establishes exclusive fed
eral jurisdiction over criminal prosecutions
for violations of state laws made applicable
to Indian .lands .unless criminal jurisdiction
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has been transferred to the state. 18 U.S.
e.A. § 1166.

9. Indians *"32(12)
Gambling activity that violates state

licensing, regulatory, or prohibitory law is
punishable under the Indian Gaming Regu
latory Act (IGRA), even though it may not
violate federal law. 18 U.S.G.A. § 1166.

10. Statutes *"159
In order for there to be repeal by

implication, provisions of one statute must
be repugnant to the other.

11. Indians *"32(12)
Statute prohibiting unlawful use and

possession of gambling devices in Indian
country was not repealed by the Indian
Gaming Regulatory Act (IGRA). Gam
bling Devices Act of 1962, § 5, 15 U.S.G.A.
§ 1175; 18 U.S.G.A. § 1166; Indian Gam
ing Regulatory Act, § 11(d)(6), 25 U.S.G.A.
§ 2710(d)(6).

12. Indians *"32(13)
Slot machines operated by defendants

in Indian country violated New York law
and thus could support conviction for oper
ation of illegal gambling business. 18 U.S.
G.A. § 1955; N.Y.McKinney's Penal Law
§ 225.30.

13. Indians *"32(12)
Term "legally operated" as used in

provision of the Indian Gaming Regulatory
Act (IGRA) creating a one-year grace peri
od for gaming devices that were legally
operated on Indian lands before May 1,
1988, means that the device was operated
in a state that permitted that type of game
for any purpose by any person or organiza
tion and that the gaming in question was
not specifically prohibited by federal law.
Indian Gaming Regulatory Act, § 4(7)(D),
25 U.S.C.A. § 2703(7)(D).

See publication Words and Phrases
for other judicial constructions and
definitions.

14. Indians *"32(12)
Grace period of the Indian Gaming

Regulatory Act (IGRA) for gaming devices
which had been legally operated on Indian
lands was intended to govern currently op
erated games such as video bingo, bingolet,

bingo 21, and other similar devices, and did
not apply to slot machines operated in vio
lation of state law. Indian Gaming Regula
tory Act, § 4(7)(D), 25 U.S.G.A.
§ 2703(7)(D).

15. Criminal Law *"469.1, 471

Expert testimony is only admissible
when the evidence is helpful to the trier of
fact, and is unnecessary where the jury is
capable of comprehending the facts and
drawing the correct conclusions from them.
Fed.Rules Evid.Rule 702, 28 U.S.G.A.

16. Criminal Law *"469.1
Judge, in his discretion, may exclude

expert testimony when it is not helpful to
the jury. Fed.Rules Evid.Rule 702, 28 U.S.
G.A.

17. Indians *"38(5)
Expert testimony was not required to

establish that devices which defendant pos
sessed in Indian country were slot ma
chines; it cannot be said that layperson
would fail to recognize the slot machine
without the introduction of expert testimo
ny, as the accessibility of major gambling
arenas has brought home the reality of
gambling and, in particular, slot machines,
the recognition of which is well within the
ability of the average person.

18. Criminal Law *"1252
Defendant who pled guilty but stated

"I will go to my grave saying I did nothing
wrong" was not entitled to reduction of
sentence for acceptance of responsibility.
U.S.S.G. § 3ELl, 18 U.S.G.A.App.

John A. Piasecki, Malone, N.Y. (Vaughn
N. Aldrich, Hogansburg, N.Y., of counsel),
for defendant-appellant Gook.

John A. Girando, Syracuse, N.Y. (D.J.
Girando and Patrick J. Haber, Syracuse,
N.Y., of counsel, Mary B. Ruddy, law stu
dent, on the brief), for defendants-appel
lants Tarbell, Laughing and Burns.

Ezra Friedman, Dept. of Justice, Wash
ington, D.G. (Frederick J. Scullin, Jr., U.S.
Atty. N.D. New York, Syracuse, N.Y., of
counsel), for appellee.
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Raymond E. Kerno and Elliot 1. Susser,

Lake Success, N.Y. (Lysaght, Lysaght &
Kramer, Lake Success, N.Y., of counsel),
filed a brief for amicus curiae James
Burns.

Before WINTER and MINER, Circuit
Judges, and LASKER, Senior District
Judge.*

MINER, Circuit Judge:

Defendants-appellants Eli Tarbell, An
thony Laughing and Peter Burns, Sr. ap
peal from convictions entered on January
16, 1990, February 26, 1990 and February
27, 1990, respectively, in the United States
District Court for the Northern District of
New York. Tarbell pled guilty to the un
lawful use and possession of gambling de
vices in Indian country. 15 U.S.C. § 1175
(1988). Laughing and Burns pled guilty to
violations of section 1175 and to the opera
tion of illegal gambling businesses. 18
U.S.C. § 1955 (1988). Defendant-appellant
Roderick Alex Cook was found guilty, fol
lowing a jury trial, of violating section
1175.

In pre-trial motions to dismiss their in
dictments, appellants raised important is
sues relating to the interpretation and ap
plication of several statutes. They claimed
that the district court lacked subject matter
jurisdiction because the offenses for which
they were prosecuted did not occur in Indi
an country, as required by section 1175.
Appellants maintained that 25 U.S.C. § 232
(1988) granted exclusive prosecutorial juris
diction to the State of New York, preclud
ing the federal prosecutions in their cases.
They also argued that both 15 U.S.C.
§ 1175 and 18 U.S.C. § 1955 were preempt
ed by the enactment of the Indian Gaming
Regulatory Act ("IGRA"), 25 U.S.C. § 2701
et seq. (1988), and of 18 U.S.C. § 1166
(1988), which provides criminal penalties
for violations of the IGRA; that the
IGRA's grace period applies to the activi
ties of Tarbell, Laughing and Burns; and
that even if the IGRA did not preempt the
statutes at issue, the government failed to
prove that their activities violated state

* Of the United States District Court for the South-

law, an essential element of an offense
under section 1955. Other contentions
were that section 1175, as applied, violates
equal protection principles and that the
government must prove that Tarbell and
Laughing knew their conduct violated the
law.

In denying the motions, Judge McCurn
rejected all arguments advanced by appel
lants. The same arguments are advanced
on this appeal. In addition, appellant Cook
challenges the sufficiency of the evidence
presented to the jury, particularly with re
spect to the government's proof that he
operated "slot machines." Appellants
Laughing and Burns challenge their sen
tences. They object to the four level in
crease in offense levels for "role in the
offense." Laughing objects to Judge
McCurn's refusal to grant him a two level
reduction in sentence for "acceptance of
responsibility." We affirm the district
court in all respects.

BACKGROUND

Roderick Alex Cook was convicted after
a jury trial of the use and possession of
gambling devices in Indian country under
15 U.S.C. § 1175. The conviction stems
from the events of December 16, 1987,
when the New York State police raided
Cook's establishment, the Night Hawk
Cafe, and seized 62 slot machines. The
conviction of Eli Tarbell for the same of
fense arose in consequence of the events of
December 16, 1987, when the police entered
his restaurant, Bear's Den, and seized 77
slot machines. On September 14, 1988 and
June 6, 1989, the police again raided the
restaurant and seized an additional 82 slot
machines.

Anthony Laughing, owner of Tony's Ve
gas International ("TVI"), was convicted
of, inter alia, conducting an illegal gam
bling business, in violation of 18 U.S.C.
§ 1955,· and the use and possession of slot
machines in Indian country, in violation of
15 U.S.C. § 1175. Among other gaming
materials observed at TVI during a police
raid on June 6, 1989, were 148 slot ma-

ern District of New York, sitting by designation.
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chines, 7 black jack tables, 3 poker tables, 2
roulette wheels and 1 "craps" table.

Peter Burns, Sr., co-owner of Burns Casi
no, was also convicted of violating 18
U.S.C. § 1955 and 15 U.S.C. § 1175. His
gambling business included the operation
of slot machines, black jack tables and rou
lette wheels.

All of appellants' alleged gambling estab
lishments were located in the town of Bom
bay, Franklin County, New York. That
area is home to appellants' Indian tribe, the
St. Regis Akwesasne Mohawk Indians.

Prior to trial, appellants moved to dis
miss the indictments on the ground that
the court lacked subject matter jurisdiction
because the offenses for which they were
indicted did not occur in Indian country as
defined by 18 U.S.C. § 1151. Theyclaimed
that the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act
("IGRA"), 25 U.S.C. § 2701 et seq., and 18
U.S.C. § 1166, which provides criminal pen
alties for violations of the IGRA, "preempt
ed" the application of 15 U.S.C. § 1175 and
18 U.S.C. § 1955. After a hearing, Judge
McCurn ruled as a matter of law that the
events occurred in Indian country. Similar
ly, he rejected the claim that 15 U.S.C.
§ 1175 and 18 U.S.C. § 1955 were super
ceded by the IGRA and 18 U.S.C. § 1166.
United States v. Burns, 725 F.Supp. 116,
124 (N.D.N.Y.1989).

Tarbell, Laughing and Burns entered
conditional pleas of guilty, after their mo
tions to dismiss the indictments were de
nied by Judge McCurn. Only Cook pro
ceeded to trial.

At trial, the government introduced evi
dence, including the testimony of an em
ployee of the Bureau of Indian Affairs
("BIA"), that the events occurred in Indian
country. Also, the written decision of
Judge McCurn disposing of the pre-trial
motions was received by the trial judge
(Van Graafeiland, J.).

After the government rested, Cook
moved for a directed verdict of acquittal on
the ground that the government failed to
prove that he owned slot machines as de
fined by the statute. In response to Cook's
assertion that expert testimony must be
presented establishing that the slot ma-

chines each contained a "drum or reel with
insignia" or that upon application of an
element of chance, money or property was
dispensed, the judge stated: "The machine
is right here before the jury. It's very
obvious what it is. I think very few people
haven't seen a slot machine at some time or
other, and this is obviously a slot machine."
The court denied the motion.

On the issue of Indian country, the judge
asked the defense if it had any evidence
demonstrating that the St. Regis lands
were not in Indian country. Besides the
introduction of the Treaty of 1796, for the
purpose of showing that the St. Regis Indi
ans were not within Indian country, no
other evidence was presented. The court
then ruled from the bench that the area at
issue was located in Indian country.

DISCUSSION

I. Jurisdictional claims

After a jury trial conducted by Judge
Van Graafeiland, Cook was convicted of
using slot machines in Indian country, in
violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1175. Only he
argues, on appeal, that the district court
lacked subject matter jurisdiction because
the St. Regis lands are not Indian country
and should have submitted the issue to the
jury in any event.

Section 1175 provides, in relevant part,
that:

It shall be unlawful to .,. possess, or
use any gambling device ... within Indi
an country as defined in [18 U.S.C.
§ 1151].

Section 1151 defines Indian country as:
(a) all land within the limits of any Indi
an reservation under the jurisdiction of
the United States Government ... , (b) all
dependent Indian communities within
the borders of the United States ... and
(c) all Indian allotments, the Indian titles
to which have not been extinguished ....

18 U.S.C. § 1151 (emphasis supplied). The
government contends that the activities for
which Cook was prosecuted occurred in
Indian country because the St. Regis tribe
is within a "reservation" or, in the alterna-
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tive, is a "dependent Indian community."
Cook argues that it is neither of those.
Both the government and Cook provided
extensive evidence of the origins of the
tribe in support of their contention that it is
or is not within a "reservation." We find it
unnecessary to resolve the issue of wheth
er the St. Regis tribe is within an Indian
"reservation" because the evidence reveals
that it is a dependent Indian community.

[1] To determine whether a particular
Indian tribe is a dependent community, it is
necessary to examine the (1) nature of the
area; (2) the relationship of the inhabitants
in the area to the Indian tribes and the
federal government; and (3) the estab
lished practice of government agencies to
ward that area. United States v. Martine,
442 F.2d 1022, 1023-24 (10th Cir.1971); see
State ofA Laska v. Native Village of Vene
tie, 856 F.2d 1384, 1390-91 (9th Cir.1988);
United States v. Azure, 801 F.2d 336, 338
39 (8th Cir.1986); United States v. Lev
esque, 681 F.2d 75, 77-78 (1st Cir.), cert.
denied, 459 U.S. 1089, 103 S.Ct. 574, 74
L.Ed.2d 936 (1982). "The phraseology in
issue thus seems intended to afford federal
criminal jurisdiction over [offenses] com
mitted by Indians in communities which ...
are both 'Indian' in character and federally
dependent." Levesque, 681 F.2d at 77.

[2] On the issue of Indian country, the
trial judge initially received into evidence
the Treaty of 1796-entered into between
the United States, the State of New York
and the St. Regis Mohawks-which estab
lished a six-mile tract of land for the occu
pancy of the St. Regis. Indians. See St.
Regis Tribe ofMohawk Indians v. State, 5
N.Y.2d 24, 29, 177 N.Y.S.2d 289, 291, 152
N.E.2d 411, 412 (1958), cert. denied, 359
U.S. 910, 79 S.Ct. 586, 3 L.Ed.2d 573 (1959).
Additionally, evidence on the nature of the
area, the inhabitants and the relationshjp
between the federal government and the
Indians was provided by Dean A. White, an
employee of the BIA.

White testified that the six-mile area is
inhabited by approximately 3,000 St. Regis
Mohawk Indians. He further testified that
the tribe is a federally recognized tribe.
See 51 Fed.Reg. 25,115 (1986) (tribe recog-

nized as having a "special relationship"
with the United States). The BIA provides
the St. Regis tribe with monies for edu
cation, housing and training programs, so
cial services and the administration of the
tribal government. Loans to both the tribe
and its individual members are guaranteed
by the BIA. Finally, the BIA is involved in
the planning and funding of roads within
the reservation and is charged with main
taining the integrity of· the lands and re
sources. We think that there was ample
evidence from which Judge Van Graafei
land properly could conclude that the St.
Regis tribe is a dependent community. See
United States v. Sandoval, 231 U.S. 28,
47-48, 34 S.Ct. 1, 6-7, 58 L.Ed. 107 (1913).

Cook also takes issue with the failure of
Judge Van Graafeiland to submit the ques
tion of whether the area at issue was a
dependent Indian community and with his
instruction to the jury to that effect. The
jury was instructed that it need only decide
whether the offenses charged in the indict
ment occurred.

[3,4] In cases where the exercise of
federal jurisdiction over a geographic area
is necessary to vest jurisdiction in the fed
eral courts, the court may determine as a
matter of law the existence of such juris
diction. United States v. Jones, 480 F.2d
1135, 1138 (2d Cir.1973) (the issue of ac
ceptance of federal jurisdiction over VA
hospital was properly decided by the judge
not the jury); see also United States v.
Gipe, 672 F.2d 777, 779 (9th Cir.1982). De
terminations of whether the site of an of
fense is Indian country have been held to
be for the court alone. United States v.
Sohappy, 770 F.2d 816,822 n. 6 (9th Cir.
1985), cert. denied, 477 U.S. 906, 106 S.Ct.
3278, 91 L.Ed.2d 568 (1986); United States
V. Dean, 656 F.2d 354, 357 (8th Cir.1981);
United States v. Morgan, 614 F.2d 166,
170-71 (8th Cir.1980); Levesque, 681 F.2d
at 78 ("Whether the crime occurred in Indi
an country was thus a jurisdictional fact
susceptible of determination without refer
ence to any of the facts involved in deter
mining ... guilt or innocence."). In this
case the question of whether the St. Regis
territory is Indian country was one proper-
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ly decided by Judge Van Graafeiland with
out submission of the issue to the jury.

[5] Tarbell, Laughing and Burns also
argue that by virtue of 25 U.S.C. § 232,
New York State has exclusive jurisdiction
to prosecute Indians for crimes committed
by them on reservations within the state.
25 U.S.C. § 232 provides, in pertinent part,
that:

The State of New York shall have juris
diction over offenses committed by or
against Indians on Indian reservations
within the State of New York to the
same extent as the courts of the State
have jurisdiction over offenses commit
ted elsewhere within the State.

Appellants invite us to interpret the statute
as a complete surrender of all jurisdiction
to the State of New York. The district
court found that prior to the enactment of
section 232, the federal government had
exclusive jurisdiction to prosecute crimes
committed by or against Indians within In
dian country. It held that absent an explic
it abdication of federal jurisdiction by Con
gress in section 232, none could be implied.
Burns, 725 F.Supp. at 122. We agree with
that holding, but address some of appel
lants' arguments advanced against it.

Our analysis "'must begin with the lan
guage of the statute itself.''' Bread Polit
ical Action Committee v. Federal Elec
tion Commission, 455 U.S. 577, 580, 102
S.Ct. 1235, 1237, 71 L.Ed.2d 432 (1982)
(quoting Dawson Chemical Co. v. Rohm &
Haas Co., 448 U.S. 176, 187, 100 S.Ct. 2601,
2608-09, 65 L.Ed.2d 696 (1980)). Moreover,
"[j]urisdictional statutes are to be con
strued 'with precision and with fidelity to
the terms by which Congress has ex
pressed its wishes.''' Palmore v. United
States, 411 U.S. 389, 396, 93 S.Ct. 1670,
1675,36 L.Ed.2d 342 (1973) (quoting Cheng
Fan Kwok v. Immigration & Naturaliza
tion Serv., 392 U.S. 206, 212, 88 S.Ct. 1970,
1974, 20 L.Ed.2d 1037 (1968».

The text of section 232 provides that
"The State of New York shall have jurisdic
tion." Plainly absent are the terms "exclu
sive" or "complete." The legislative histo
ry also does not support the interpretation
urged by appellants. Significantly absent

is any allusion to a complete surrender of
jurisdiction. H.R.Rep. 2355, 80th Cong., 2d
Sess., reprinted in 1948 U.S.Code Congo
Servo 2284 ("H.R. Rep. 2355"). Appellants
refer to a letter written by the Undersecre
tary of the Department of the Interior, in
which he suggested that the proposed bill
include an express reservation of federal
jurisdiction. H.R.Rep. 2355, at 2286-87.
They maintain that by rejecting the sug
gestion, Congress therefore desired to re
linquish all federal authority. The failure
of Congress to adopt this recommendation,
however, is not a telling indication of con
gressional intent.

Appellants also cite a host of cases in
support of the contention that section 232
granted exclusive jurisdiction to New York
State. See, e.g., Washington V. Confeder
ated Bands and Tribes of the Yakima
Indian Nation, 439 U.S. 463, 471 n. 8, 99
S.Ct. 740, 746 n. 8, 58 L.Ed.2d 740 (1979)
(section 232 surrendered authority to New
York State); Oneida Indian Nation of
New York State v. County of Oneida, 414
U.S. 661, 679, 94 S.Ct. 772, 783, 39 L.Ed.2d
73 (1974) ("New York and federal authori
ties eventually reached partial agreement
in 1948 when criminal jurisdiction over
New York Indian reservations was ceded to
the State"); United States V. Devonian
Gas & Oil Co., 424 F.2d 464, 468 (2d Cir.
1970) (section 232 "relinquished the crimi
nal and civil jurisdiction of the United
States over New York Indians");
Anderson V. Gladden, 188 F.Supp. 666, 677
(D.Or.1960) (section 232 "surrendered to
the state of New York complete jurisdiction
over all crimes committed on Indian Reser
vations within the state"), afi'd, 293 F.2d
463 (9th Cir.), cert. denied, 368 U.S. 949, 82
S.Ct. 390, 7 L.Ed.2d 344 (1961). These
cases are not controlling because none re
solved the jurisdictional issue presented
here. Other cases cited by appellants in
support of their contention do not mention
abdication of jurisdiction. See, e.g., People
V. Edwards, 78 A.D.2d 582, 582, 432 N.Y.
S.2d 567, 568 (4th Dep't 1980) ("jurisdiction
... was granted to New York in 1948 by
the enactment of section 232").
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[6] The plain language of the statute
leads us to conclude that section 232 ex
tended concurrent jurisdiction to the State
of New York. If Congress intended by
enacting 25 U.S.C. § 232 to surrender all
federal jurisdiction, it could have said so in
1948 when section 232 was enacted. That
is exactly what it did in 1970 when it
amended 18 U.S.C. § 1162 to give six states
exclusive jurisdiction over criminal and pri
vate civil matters involving Indian reserva
tions within the particular state. See
Pub.L. No. 91-523, § 2, 84 Stat. 1358
(1970).

II. Claim that the IGRA Repealed
sections 1955 and 1175

[7] Appellants Laughing and Burns
contend that the Indian Gaming Regula
tory Act ("IGRA"), 25 U.S.C. § 2701 et
seq., and the provision that provides crimi
nal penalties for violations of the IGRA, 18
U.S.C. § 1166, "preempted" 18 U.S.C.
§ 1955. We find this contention to be with
out merit.

The issue in this case is not whether the
IGRA and 18 U.S.C. § 1166 preempted 18
U.S.C. § 1955, but whether the former two
implicitly repealed the latter. With that in
mind, "'[i]t is a familiar doctrine that re
peals by implication are not favored.
When there are two acts on the same sub
ject the rule is to give effect to both if
possible.'" Pipejitters Local 562 v. Unit
ed States, 407 U.S. 385, 432 n. 43, 92 S.Ct.
2247, 2272, n.43, 33 L.Ed.2d 11 (1972)
(quoting United States v. Tynen, 78 U.S.
(11 Wall.) 88, 92, 20 L.Ed. 153 (1871)). Con
gressional intent to repeal may be demon
strated by the "'positive repugnancy be
tween the provisions'" of the statute.
United States v. Batchelder, 442 U.S. 114,
122, 99 S.Ct. 2198, 2203, 60 L.Ed.2d 755
(1979) (quoting United States v. Borden
Co., 308 U.S. 188, 199, 60 S.Ct. 182, 188, 84
L.Ed. 181 (1939)). See United States v.
Jackson, 805 F.2d 457, 460 (2d Cir.1986),
cert. denied, 480 U.S. 922, 107 S.Ct. 1384,
94 L.Ed.2d 698 (1987). Moreover," '[t]he
courts are not at liberty to pick and choose
among congressional enactments, and
when two statutes are capable of coexist
ence, it is the duty of the courts, absent a

clearly expressed congressional intention to
the contrary, to regard each as effective.' "
Traynor v. Turnage, 485 U.S. 535, 548,108
S.Ct. 1372, 1381, 99 L.Ed.2d 618 (1988)
(quoting Morton v. Mancari, 417 U.S. 535,
551, 94 S.Ct. 2474, 2483, 41 L.Ed.2d 290
(1974)).

The congressionally declared purpose of
the IGRA is to promote tribal economic
development and self-sufficiency in addi
tion to shielding the tribes from the influ
ences of organized crime through the en
actment of a statutory scheme regulating
the operation of gaming by Indian tribes.
25 U.S.C. § 2702(1), (2). To that end, the
IGRA divides gaming into three classes,
subjecting the classes to varying degrees
of regulatory control.

Class I gaming, defined as ceremonial or
traditional gaming, which includes social
games for nominal prizes, remains within
the exclusive control of the Indian tribe.
25 U.S.C. §§ 2703(6), 2710(a)(1). Class II
gaming, which includes bingo, lotto, pull
tabs, tip jars, punch boards and card games
that are· either authorized or not specifical
ly prohibited by state law, remains within
the jurisdiction of the tribe but is subject to
oversight by the National Indian Gaming
Commission ("NIGC"). 25 U.S.C.
§§ 2703(7)(A), 2710(a)(2), (b) and (c). Class

II gaming is only permitted (1) if carried on
in a state that allows such gaming for any
purpose by any person, organization, or
entity; (2) if not prohibited by federal law;
and (3) if a tribal ordinance or resolution
has been adopted permitting such gaming.
25 U.S.C. § 2710(b)(1)(A), (B), (b)(2) and
(b)(4)(A). The IGRA expressly excludes
from class II gaming slot machines of any
kind. 25 U.S.C. § 2703(7)(B)(ii). Class III
gaming, defined as all gaming not listed in
either Class I or II, is prohibited unless (1)
authorized by a tribal ordinance or resolu
tion; (2) located in a state that permits the
particular gaming for any purpose by any
person, organization or entity; and (3) con
ducted in accordance with a compact nego
tiated between the Indian tribe and the
state. 25 U.S.C. §§ 2703(8), 2710(d)(1).
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[8,9] The statutory mechanism provid
ing for the enforcement of the IGRA estab
lishes exclusive federal jurisdiction over
criminal prosecutions for violations of state
laws made applicable to Indian lands, un
less criminal jurisdiction has been transfer
red to the state. 18 U.S.C. § 1166.

The United States shall have exclusive
jurisdiction over criminal prosecutions of
violations of State gambling laws that
are made applicable under this section to
Indian country.

18 U.S.C. § 1166(d). Section 1166(b) pro
vides in relevant part:

Whoever ... is guilty of any act or omis
sion involving gambling, whether or not
conducted or sanctioned by an Indian
tribe, which, although not made punisha
ble by any enactment of Congress, would
be punishable if committed ... within
the jurisdiction of the State in which the
act ... occurred, under the laws govern
ing the licensing, regulation, or prohibi
tion of gambling in force at the time of
such act ... shall be guilty of a like
offense and subject to a like punishment.

Under the foregoing provisions, gambling
activity that violates state licensing, regu
latory, or prohibitory law is punishable
even though it may not violate federal law.
18 U.S.C. § 1166(a). Similarly, 18 U.S.C.
§ 1955 prohibits gambling businesses that
violate the law of the state in which they
are conducted. [d. § 1955(b)(I)(i). Be
cause the two provisions prohibit gambling
conducted in violation of state law and be
cause of the comprehensive regulatory
structure of the IGRA, appellants assert
that 18 U.S.C. § 1955 did not survive the
enactment of IGRA.

[10] The fact that the two statutes pro
vide criminal penalties for the same activi
ty, however, is not determinative in this
case. For a repeal by implication, the pro
visions of one must be repugnant to the
other. This is not the case. While it is
true that both provisions punish gambling
operations that violate state law, the scope
of section 1955 exceeds that of section
1166. Section 1955 prohibits not only gam
bling businesses in violation of state law
but those enterprises that are conducted by

more than five persons and that have oper
ated continuously for more than thirty days
or that produce revenues of $2,000 on any
single day. 18 U.S.C. § 1955(b). That pro
vision targets large-scale illegal gambling
enterprises and imposes stringent penal
ties-a maximum fine of $20,000 andI or
imprisonment for not more than five years
and forfeiture of all property used in the
illegal enterprise. See United States v.
Farris, 624 F.2d 890, 896 (9th Cir.1980)
(identifies federal interest as eradication of
large-scale gaming). It would be illogical
to suppose that Congress now intends to
punish extensive gambling businesses un
der state misdemeanor statutes, which are
subsumed under section 1166(a), simply be
cause they are conducted in Indian country.
See N.Y.Penal Law §§ 225.05, 225.30
(McKinney 1989) (class A misdemeanors
for both promotion of illegal gambling and
possession of illegal gambling devices).
We conclude therefore that the provisions
do not demonstrate the mutual exclusivity
necessary to impute to Congress the clear,
affirmative intent to repeal.

[11] Cook also maintains that 15 U.S.C.
§ 1175 was repealed by the IGRA. We
need go no further than to refer Cook to 25
U.S.C. § 2710(d)(6), which expressly pro
vides for the continuing application of 15
U.S.C. § 1175, except where gaming is con
ducted in accordance with a tribal-state
compact that is in effect. A compact is in
effect only when "notice of approval by the
Secretary [of the Interior] of such compact
has been published by the Secretary in the
Federal Register." 25 U.S.C.
§ 2710(d)(3)(B). Although the St. Regis
tribe has entered into negotiations with
New York State for the purpose of forming
a compact, no compact has been agreed to
and there has been no official approval of
the compact. Therefore, the operation of
slot machines by Cook falls squarely within
the prohibited activity governed by section
1175.

III. Claim that offenses do not
violate New York law

Even if 18 U,S.C. § 1955 was not impli
edly repealed, Laughing and Burns contend



[14] The legislative history demon
strates, however, that the grace period is
intended to govern currently operated
games such as video bingo,bingolet, bingo
21 and other similar devices, which became
Class III devices upon the enactment of the
statute. S.Rep. No. 446, 100th Cong., 2d
Sess., reprinted in 1988 U.S.Code Congo &

[13] Tarbell, Laughing and Burns fur
ther argue that even if the IGRA did not
repeal section 1955 or section 1175, their
activities fall within the one-year grace pe
riod provided by the IGRA. Section
2703(7)(D) provides:

Notwithstanding any other provision of
this paragraph, the term "class II gam
ing" includes, during the I-year period
beginning on October 17, 1988, any gam
ing described in subparagraph (B)(ii) that
was legally operated on Indian lands
on or before May 1, 1988, if the Indian
tribe having jurisdiction over the lands
on which such gaming was operated re
quests the State, by no later than the
date that is 30 days after October 17,
1988, to negotiate a Tribal-State compact
under section 2710(d)(3) of this title.

25 U.S.C. § 2703(7)(D) (emphasis supplied).
Subparagraph (B)(ii) refers to "electronic
or electromechanical facsimiles of any
game of chance or slot machines." 25
U.S.C. §2703(7)(B)(ii). The appellants ar
gue that the statute provides a one-year
grace period for the operation of slot ma
chines, if the slot machines were legally
operated on or before May 1, 1988 and if
the tribe requests the state in which it is
located to negotiate a compact no later
than November 16, 1988. "Legally operat
ed" means the device is operated in a state
that permits such gaming for any purpose
by any person or organization and such
gaming is not specifically prohibited by fed
eral law. 25 U.S.C, § 2710(b)(I)(A).

IV. Grace Period

u.s. v. COOK
Cite as 922 F.2d 1026 (2nd Clf. 1991)

that the government failed to prove an State"); N.Y.Penal
essential element of an offense under sec- ney 1989).
tion 1955, namely that the operation of slot
machines violated New York law. Appel
lants' argument that this essential element
was not proved may succeed only if their
gambling activity did not violate "the law
of a State ... in which it is conducted." 18
U.S.C. § 1955(b)(I)(i). Their position is that
whether state law has been violated de
pends upon whether New York law is crim
inal/prohibitory or civil/regulatory. The
prohibitory/ regulatory distinction was de
veloped to aid in the interpretation of Pub
lic Law 280, which granted certain states
general criminal and civil (but not regula
tory) jurisdiction over specified areas of
Indian country. I See Bryan v. Itasca
County, 426 U.S. 373, 380-81, 96 S.Ct.
2102, 2107, 48 L.Ed.2d 710 (1976). The
distinction was created to protect Indian
sovereignty from interference by the
states, precluding states from asserting
civil regulatory powers over the Indian
tribes. United States v. Dakota, 796 F.2d
186, 187-88 (6th Cir.1986).

[12] Appellants maintain that New
York law is civil/regulatory because New
York allows some gambling activity and
possession of some gambling devices under
certain circumstances, see N.Y.Gen.
Mun.Law § 185 et seq. (McKinney 1986 &
Supp.1990) (local legislatures may license
the operation of games of chance by autho
rized charitable organizations); N.Y.Penal
Law § 225.32 (McKinney 1989) (antique
slot machines not used for gambling pur
poses or machines assembled for purposes
of being transported to a jurisdiction where
such devices are lawfully operated are per
mitted), and therefore their activities did
not violate the "law of a State ... in which
[they were] conducted." We are not per
suaded by their contention. Although
some gambling activity is permitted, New
York flatly prohibits the operation of slot
machines for gambling purposes. State v.
Snyder, 141 Misc.2d 444,449,532 N.Y.S.2d
827, 831 (County Ct.1988) ("such conduct
.. , is not permitted to any extent in this
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Law § 225.30 (McKin-

1. Public Law 280 is the commonly-used name of
Acl of Aug. 15. 1953. Pub.L. No. 83-280. 67 SIal.
588 (codified al 18 U.S.C. § 1162) and 67 Stal.

589 (codified at 28 U.S.C. § 1360). The six
states are Alaska. California. Minnesota. Nebras
ka. Oregon and Wisconsin.



1036 922 FEDERAL REPORTER, 2d SERIES

Admin.News 3071, 3077, 3080. Through
the application of the grace period, the
tribes operating such games could continue
their operation so long as they request the
state to enter into negotiations, thereby
preventing a shutdown in operations where
the games were not prohibited by federal
law and were permitted under state law.
Appellants' activities, however, violated
both federal and state law.

The assertion that the grace period ap
plies to slot machines makes little sense
when the statutory requirements for legal
operation are examined. The operation of
slot machines is only lawful if carried on in
a state that "permits such gaming for any
purpose by any person, organization or en
tity .... " 25 U.S.C. §2710(b)(I)(A). As
has been established, slot machines for
gambling purposes generally are prohibited
by the laws of New York State. Legally
operated also means that the device was
not prohibited by federal law. 25 U.S.C.
§ 2710(b)(I)(A). But the slot machines op
erated by appellants were illegal under the
statute punishing the use or possession of
such devices in Indian country, 15 U.S.C.
§ 1175. To construe the statute as re
quested by appellants, would undermine
the requirement that to conduct gambling
of this sort, a compact must be in effect.
25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(I)(C).

V. Sufficiency of the evidence

Cook was charged with the illegal pos
session of gambling devices in Indian coun
try. 15 U.S.C. § 1175. Section 1171 de
fines the term "gambling device" as fol
lows:

(1) any so-called "slot machine" or any
other machine or mechanical device an
essential part of which is a drum or reel
with insignia thereon, and (A) which
when operated may deliver, asa result of
the application of an element of chance,
any money or property, or (B) by the
operation of which a person may become
entitled to receive, as the result of the
application of an element of chance, any
money or property.

15 U.S.C. § 1171(a)(I). Cook contends that
the judge erred in denying his motion for

acquittal because there was insufficient ev
idence to show that he operated a "slot
machine." In particular, he complains that
the slot machine introduced at trial, Peo
ple's Exhibit 12, was never operated for the
jury and thus the jury could not conclude
that he was in possession of slot machines.
Moreover, because the government failed
to establish the presence of the requisite
components-drum or reel with insignia, or
that the device delivered money or property
as a result of the application of an element
of chance-and because the statute specifi
cally mentions these component parts,
Cook maintains that expert testimony
should have been provided at the very
least.

We reject Cook's contention. In chal
lenging the sufficiency of the evidence, an
appellant bears a "very heavy burden."
United States v. Torres, 901 F.2d 205, 216
(2d Cir.1990). A conviction must stand if
"after viewing the evidence in the light
most favorable to the prosecution" this
court finds that "any rational trier of fact
could have found the essential elements of
the crime beyond a reasonable doubt."
Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99
S.Ct. 2781, 2789, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979) (em
phasis omitted).

[15,16] Expert testimony is only admis
sible when such testimony is helpful to the
trier of fact. Fed.R.Evid. 702. Such testi
mony is unnecessary where the jury is ca
pable of comprehending the facts and
drawing the correct conclusions from them.
Salem v. United States Lines Co., 370 U.S.
31, 35, 82 S.Ct. 1119, 1122, 8 L.Ed.2d 313
(1962). Indeed, the judge in his discretion
may exclude expert testimony when it is
not helpful to the jury. United States v.
Schatzle, 901 F.2d 252, 257 (2d Cir.1990).

[17] Here, it cannot be said that the
layperson would fail to recognize a slot
machine without the introduction of expert
testimony. The accessibility of major gam
bling arenas such as Las Vegas, Nevada,
and Atlantic City, New Jersey, has brought
home the reality of gambling, and in partic
ular, slot machines. The recognition of an
ordinary "one arm bandit" is well within
the ability of the average person.



For the foregoing reasons, the judg
ments of the district court are affirmed.
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CONCLUSION

LASKER, Senior District Judge,
dissenting:

I respectfully dissent.

It is my view that the evidence below
was insufficient as a matter of law to es
tablish that the St. Regis Mohawktribe is a
"dependent Indian community." In hold
ing that there was "ample evidence" from
which the district court properly could con
clude that the St. Regis tribe is a depend
ent community, the majority citeS' United
States v. Sandoval, 231 U.S. 28, 47-48, 34
S.Ct. 1, 6-7, 58 L.Ed. 107 (1913). There are
several reasons why I believe Sandoval
does not \Qustify the result reached here.
First, the Supreme Court's opinion in San
dova~ because'~~receded the enactment
of 15 U.S.C. § 1175, is of limited value as a
guide to the interpretation of the term "de
pendent Indian community" as that term is
used in the statute.

Moreover, the definition of "dependent
Indian community" offered by the Sando
val court is too vague to be useful. In
holding that the judiciary should follow the
lead of the executive and legislative
branches with regard to whether a commu
nity is dependent, the court stated:

[B]y an [sic] uniform course of action
beginning as early as 1854 and continued
up to the present time, the legislative
and executive branches of the Govern
ment have regarded and treated the
Pueblos of New Mexico as dependent
communities entitled to its aid and pro
tection, like other Indian tribes, and con
sidering their Indian lineage, isolated and
communal life, primitive customs and
limited civilization, this assertion of
guardianship cannot be said to be arbi
trary but must be regarded as both au
thorized and controlling.

231 U.S. at 47. Accordingly, Sandoval, as
cited by the majority, stands for the propo
sition that those Indian communities which
the legislative and executive branches have
treated, in a non-arbitrary way, as depend-

u.s. v.COOK
Cite as 922 F.2d 1026 (2nd Clr. 1991)

At trial, three officers testified about the
slot machines at the Night Hawk Cafe.
One officer recounted that before the police
took the slot machines off the premises,
Cook opened each with a key and removed
money from within the cash boxes. The
officer who was responsible for inventory
ing the contraband, revealed that there
were 62 slot machines in all, exhibit 12
being one of the 62 seized by the police.
Finally, although the slot machine was not
operated for the jury on account of Cook's
objection, it remained in the courtroom for
the jury to view throughout the trial and
went into the deliberation room as an ex
hibit. We find no error in the trial judge's
decision to deny the motion because the
evidence was sufficient for a rational trier
of fact to conclude that Cook operated slot
machines.

VII. Other claims

We have considered appellants' remain
ing contentions and find them to be without
merit.

VI. Reduction for Acceptance of
Responsibility

[18] Judge McCurn properly denied
Laughing a reduction of sentence for ac
ceptance of responsibility. The reduction
was not withheld, as Laughing contends,
because he entered a conditional plea and
continued to challenge federal jurisdiction.
Judge McCurn simply determined that
Laughing never had indicated his accept
ance of responsibility apart from the guilty
plea. Indeed, at the sentencing, Laughing
said: "I will go to my grave saying I did
nothing wrong;" This does not manifest
the acceptance of factual guilt referred to
in United States Sentencing Commission,
Guidelines Manual ("V.S.S.G.") § 3ELl Ap
plication note 2. See United States v. Roy
er, 895 F.2d 28, 30 (1st Cir.1990) ("accept
ance of responsibility necessitates candor
and authentic remorse"). Judge McCurn's
determination has an adequate foundation
and therefore cannot be disturbed. U.S.
S.G. § 3ELl AppVcation .note 5; see also
United States v. Irabor, 894 F.2d 554, 557
(2d Cir.1990).
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ent communities should be treated by the
courts as dependent communities. How
ever, the Sandoval court does not provide
guidelines as to what extent of government
involvement is necessary to render a com
munity "dependent." The involvement in
tribal affairs demonstrated by the federal
government in Sandoval is qualitatively
different from the relationship between the
federal government and the St. Regis tribe
as reflected by the record in this case.

It also must be noted that the Sandoval
court's reference to the "primitive customs
and limited civilization" of the Pueblo in
the passage quoted above is a sample of
the outmoded assumptions about Native
American peoples upon which the Sando
val opinion is based-though such assump
tions may have been general at the time.
The attitudes expressed in Sandoval can
not be regarded as mere dicta,. but, as the
quotation above demonstrates, are integral
to the holding of the case.

Nor do the cases which have established
and applied the standard for what consti
tutes a dependent Indian community under
15 U.S.C. § 1175 offer sufficient support
for the result reached here. In United
States v. Martine, 442 F.2d 1022 (10th Cir.
1971), the Court of Appeals merely de
scribes the general nature of the evidence
received by the trial court to determine
whether the community in question was
dependent without any specific reference to
what that evidence demonstrated objective
ly. In State ofAlaska v. Native Village of
Venetie, 856 F.2d 1384 (9th Cir.1988), the
Court of Appeals concluded that the factu
al record below was insufficient to reach a
conclusion regarding dependency. United
States v. Azure, 801 F.2d 336 (8th Cir.1986)
involved a situation where the federal
government actually retained title to the
land upon which the tribe in question lived.
In United States v. Levesque, 681 F.2d 75
(1st Cir.1982), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 1089,
103 S.Ct. 574, 74 L.Ed.2d 936 (1982), the
Court of Appeals based its finding of feder
al dependency on the fact that the tribe
received $3 million per year in federal aid
and no state aid. In the present case, the
tribe itself owns the land upon which it
resides and there has been no evidence

with regard to how much funding is actual
ly provided.

As the majority opinion correctly states,
to determine whether a particular Indian
tribe is a dependent community, it is neces
sary to examine (1) the nature of the area;
(2) the relationship of the inhabitants in the
area to the Indian tribes and the federal
government; and (3) the established prac
tice of government agencies toward that
area.

The evidence in this case established that
the area in question is inhabited by a feder
ally recognized tribe of approximately
3,000 St. Regis Mohawk Indians. Dean
White, a representative of the Bureau of
Indian Affairs (the "BIA") testified that,
"We provide service programs to the
tribes. We provide funding for contracts
to them, for various socio-economic pro
grams that they run .. " We provide fund
ing for education programs, housing pro
grams, training programs, Social Services
programs and administration of tribal
government programs." He also stated
that the BIA guarantees loans to the tribe
and individual tribe members through
banks and that the BIA is involved in plan
ning and funding roads on the reservation.

However, this evidence does not by itself
establish that the St. Regis tribe is a de
pendent community. The mere existence
of federal programs which benefit a given
community does not establish that that
community's relationship with the federal
government can be characterized as one of
dependency. In ordinary English usage,
"dependent" means "relying on another for
support" or "lacking the necessary means
of support and receiving aid from others."
See, e.g., Webster's Ninth New Collegiate
Dictionary (1985); Webster's Third New In
ternational Dictionary Unabridged (1963).
In order to determine whether the St. Re
gis tribe relies on the federal government
for support, it would seem to be necessary
to ascertain at the very least what percent
age of the tribe's expenses federal funding
covers and how many and what percentage
of tribe members actually participate in or
benefit from federal programs.
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1. Employers' Liability <9201
Unsafe working conditions for railroad

conductor as detailed in investigation re
port could have caused conductor's injury
while disconnecting cables between car and
locomotive, and, thus, evidence of condi
tions should have been admitted in conduc
tor's action against carrier; conductor tes
tified that he repositioned himself several
times during course of his efforts in order
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Decided Jan. 8, 1991.

John J. O'CONNELL,
Plaintiff-Appellant,

Reversed and remanded.

Railroad conductor brought action
against carrier to recover for injury sus
tained when disconnecting cable between
locomotive and car. The United States Dis
trict Court for the Southern District of
New York, Charles M. Metzner, J., entered
judgment on jury verdict in favor of carri
er. Conductor appealed. The Court of Ap
peals, Miner, Circuit Judge, held that: (1)
evidence of unsafe working conditions
should have been admitted, and (2) conduc
tor was not entitled to instructions on Boil
er Inspection Act regulations requiring dai
ly inspection of locomotives and prohibiting
use of broken or badly chafed cable shaft
insulation.

O'CONNELL v. NATIONAL R.R. PASSENGER CORP.
Cite as 922 F.2d 1039 (2nd Clr. 1991)

It is particularly important that the evi- I would reverse and remand
dence with regard to whether the St. Regis might be resentenced.
tribe is a dependent community be solid
given the dramatic difference between the
penalties under 15 U.S.C. § 1175 for com
mitting the offenses in question in "Indian
country" and the penalties for the same
conduct anywhere else in New York state.
Although 15 U.S.C. § 1175 is nondiscrimi-
natory on its face because it applies to
persons of all races who commit such of
fenses in Indian country, the statute has
the potential to have a racially discrimina
tory impact because those most likely to be
prosecuted for committing offenses in Indi
an country are Native Americans. Accord
ingly, I would reverse and remand for fur
ther evidence on the issue of whether the
St. Regis tribe is a dependent Indian com
munity.

I also dissent from the majority's deci
sion to affirm the district court's refusal to
grant Laughing, who pled guilty, a reduc-
tion in sentence under the Sentencing
Guidelines for acceptance of responsibility.
Section 3E1.1 of the Sentencing Guidelines
states that a defendant is entitled to credit
for acceptance of responsibility "[i]f the
defendant clearly demonstrates a recogni
tion and affirmative acceptance of personal
responsibility for his criminal conduct .... "
It is true, as the majority points out,· that
Laughing did state "I will go to my grave
saying I did nothing wrong." However,
Laughing also stated that

I take full responsibility as running the
place. I never denied the fact that I am
the owner of [the casino]. I believe that
what may be against the law in New
York State is not necessarily against the
law on the reservation. We are a sover
eign nation, whether [the Assistant Unit-
ed States Attorney] wants to believe it or
not.

In light of that statement, I construe the
defendant's statement that he did not be
lieve that he had done anything wrong only
as disagreeing with the law as he now
understood it, but not failing to accept per
sonal responsibility for his criminal con
duct. Accordingly, he is entitled to a re
duction for acceptance of responsibility and


